

# **RACP Climate Change and Health 2016**

Please note this document was published more than 5-years ago. Please ensure you check information for currency, and/or refer to more upto-date sources for relevant information and advice.



The Royal Australasian College of Physicians

# Climate Change and Health Position Statement

November 2016

# **Acknowledgements**

The RACP would like to acknowledge and thank those who led this work.

The Climate Change and Health Working Party members:

Dr George Laking FRACP (Chair)
Associate Professor Marion Carey FAFPHM
Dr Kate Charlesworth FAFPHM
Professor Charles Guest FAFPHM
Associate Professor David Harley FAFPHM
Dr Karen Kiang MD
Dr Lloyd Nash FRACP
Associate Professor Linda Selvey FAFPHM
Dr Ashwin Swaminathan FRACP

#### Supported by:

Louise Hardy, Manager, Policy and Advocacy Helen Stasa, Policy Officer, Policy and Advocacy Corey Watts, Senior Advocacy Officer, Policy and Advocacy

We also acknowledge the group who produced the original <u>RACP Position Statement on Climate</u> Change and Health of which this is an update.

# **Contents**

Executive summary	3
Climate change and its impacts on human health	3
Health inequity	4
Australia, New Zealand and the Pacific	4
The health benefits of mitigation and adaptation	5
Direct effects	5
Health benefits	5
Calls for action	6
Conclusions	6
References	8

# **Executive summary**

Anthropogenic climate change is a global public health emergency. It is, at the same time, a major threat and a major opportunity for planetary health and health equity. This document is the first in a series of three Position Statements by the Royal Australasian College of Physicians (RACP) on climate change and health. It addresses the health impacts of climate change relevant to the RACP's work in Australia, New Zealand and the Pacific. The second statement reviews health benefits of climate change mitigation, while the third statement outlines actions that the health sector can take to reduce its carbon footprint and to improve its environmental sustainability.

As medical professionals at the frontline of climate change, the RACP is committed to transformative advocacy at local, national and global levels. Such a commitment is consistent with our professional duty towards the health of individuals and the community. In addition, the College's calls to action on climate change have seen it join a growing alliance of healthcare and related organisations, including the World Health Organization<sup>2</sup>, The Lancet<sup>13</sup>, the British Medical Association, the British Medical Journal<sup>4</sup>, the American Academy of Pediatrics<sup>5</sup>, the World Medical Association<sup>6</sup>, the Royal College of Physicians<sup>7</sup> and the Royal College of Paediatricians and Child Health<sup>8</sup>, together with the World Bank<sup>9</sup>, the Royal Society<sup>10</sup>, World Vision<sup>11</sup>, and others.<sup>12</sup>

# Climate change and its impacts on human health

Anthropogenic climate change occurs primarily because of greenhouse gas emissions from human activities. <sup>13–15</sup> Climate scientists concur that anthropogenic global warming is occurring, is accelerating, and will not stabilise or improve without significant mitigation. <sup>15–17</sup> Although there is uncertainty as to their projected magnitude <sup>18</sup>, without immediate intervention average global temperatures relative to the year 2000 are likely to rise by 1–2°C by 2050, and by 3–4°C by 2100. <sup>19</sup>

The health impacts of climate change are mediated by environmental exposures such as ambient heat, air pollution, storms, floods, reduced water quality, reduced food production, increased food spoilage, and change in disease vectors.<sup>20</sup>

These exposures underlie health effects including heat stress illnesses, cardiovascular disease, infectious gastrointestinal disease, physical trauma, malnutrition, psychological stress, vector-borne disease, and other epidemic illness. In addition, forced migration and conflict caused by scarce food and water resources will have consequent impacts on health.

For instance, using climate change models with conservative assumptions, the World Health Organization estimates that, between 2030 and 2050, an extra 250,000 deaths per year globally from malnutrition, malaria, diarrhoea and heat stress will be attributable to climate change.<sup>2</sup>

The global scale of these health impacts threatens to overwhelm the adaptive capacity of existing social and economic systems. We are therefore confronted with a global public health emergency.

# **Health inequity**

Climate change is a major contributor to current and future health inequities – avoidable differences in health status or in the distribution of health determinants between population groups both within and between countries. <sup>29</sup> Within countries, the evidence shows that, in general, the lower an individual's socioeconomic position, the worse their health. Climate change will increase the steepness of this social health gradient. <sup>30 31</sup>

The poorest and most vulnerable (including disadvantaged populations, Indigenous communities, residents of low and middle income countries, and future generations) are disproportionately afflicted by the most severe adverse effects. <sup>32–36</sup> Low and middle income countries face increased risks of food and water insecurity, population displacement, and increases in respiratory, diarrhoeal and vector-borne diseases. <sup>1 37</sup>

Climate change already costs the world more than \$1.2 trillion a year, which equates to 1.6 per cent of annual global GDP.<sup>38</sup> It is estimated that, by 2030, the cost of climate change and air pollution combined will rise to 3.2 per cent of global GDP. However, the world's least developed countries will suffer disproportionate losses of up to 11 per cent of their GDP.<sup>38 39</sup>

#### Australia, New Zealand and the Pacific

Although Australia and New Zealand are not the most vulnerable nations, they are not immune to the adverse health impacts of climate change. In Australia there is already a noticeable impact from increased frequency and intensity of bushfires, floods, dust storms, drought and extreme heat, biodiversity decline, and over-allocation, reduced quality and increased salinisation of fresh water. As a result, Australians are already seeing higher rates of respiratory illness Indiarrhoea and morbidity requiring hospital admission during hot days, and higher rates of suicide in rural areas during drought years.

New Zealand residents face increased ambient temperatures, shifts in rainfall, rising sea levels, erosion, scarcity of freshwater and increased flooding. These effects are predicted to worsen in the coming years, unless urgent action is taken. He are temperatures, shifts in rainfall, rising sea levels, erosion, scarcity of freshwater and increased flooding. These effects are predicted to worsen in the coming years, unless urgent action is taken.

Developed countries such as Australia and New Zealand have a responsibility to neighbouring countries in the Pacific. Pacific nations are especially exposed to climate change, in light of lower socioeconomic development, tropical climates, maritime infrastructure, and the prevalence of atolls and other coastal settlements subject to inundation. 49–51

Again, the most vulnerable members of Australian, New Zealand and Pacific societies will be disproportionately impacted by the environmental, social and economic impacts of climate change. 3536

The governments of Australia, New Zealand and other Pacific nations have signed the 2015 Paris Climate Agreement, which commits signatory states to reducing greenhouse gas emissions "as soon as possible". It aims to hold global average temperatures to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels (and ideally below 1.5°C). The latter level of warming is the highest level compatible with the geographic survival of many Pacific nations. 53–55

# The health benefits of mitigation and adaptation

Responses to climate change can be classed in terms of mitigation and adaptation. Mitigating actions reduce or reverse human forcing of global temperature<sup>56</sup>, while adaptive actions reduce the impact of climate change on human and natural systems.<sup>57</sup> 15

Mitigation and adaptation can improve health directly via the mechanisms addressing climate change, or via incidental health benefits.<sup>158</sup>

#### **Direct effects**

The RACP supports the 2015 Paris Climate Agreement because it focuses on mitigation of climate change by reduction in atmospheric greenhouse gases. Mitigation is the only strategy that directly addresses the cause of climate change and thereby offers a way to avoid its adverse health impact.

Adaptation addresses the symptoms rather than the cause of climate change. Examples include disaster risk management plans, early warning systems, planning adjustments, development of climate-tolerant crops, coastal defences, and planned retreat from low-lying areas. <sup>15 59</sup> To the extent that adaptive measures succeed, they benefit health by reducing hazardous exposures.

As the world faces further warming due to the cumulative effect of greenhouse gas emissions, some adaptation is inevitable. However, compared to mitigation, adaptation is more expensive and less effective.<sup>60</sup>

#### **Health benefits**

Health benefits mainly emerge in tandem with climate change mitigation, and mainly relate to changes in diet and activity and reduced pollution associated with reduced consumption of fossil fuels. The widespread adoption of plant-based diets – diets rich in fruits and vegetables, and low in meat, eggs and dairy products – would reduce emissions from deforestation and livestock. Plant-based diets can also reduce the incidence of chronic diseases, such as heart disease and diabetes. Active transport such as walking and cycling is associated with reduced carbon emissions. The health benefits of active transport include reduced rates of respiratory disease, road traffic accidents, obesity, diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke and mental ill-health. 158

Further benefits of mitigation derive from reducing fossil fuel extraction. This limits the environmental release of minerals including toxic arsenic and mercury. <sup>61 62</sup> Reducing fossil fuel combustion also limits the release of pollutants including black carbon (estimated to cause 2.4 million respiratory deaths per annum worldwide) and ozone (150,000 respiratory deaths per annum worldwide). <sup>63</sup>

Because of the potential for health improvement, climate change can also be seen as a positive health opportunity. The RACP Position Statement on The Health Benefits of Mitigating Climate Change addresses these issues in more depth, with recommendations for action.

#### Calls for action

The RACP is committed to leadership in reducing the adverse health impacts and realising the potential health benefits of climate change. As a first step in reducing its own carbon footprint, in 2015 the RACP decided to divest from all financial holdings in or directly linked to fossil fuel industries.

The RACP recognises the multiple roles of physicians in promoting action on climate change. These include educating the health sector, raising community awareness, and influencing public policy. <sup>5</sup> At a local level, many RACP Fellows and Trainees have already begun to address climate change in the public and private hospital sector and in their private practices by promoting initiatives aimed at "greening the healthcare sector" (such as the introduction of more energy efficient lighting and reduction of wastage). <sup>64</sup>

At the national level, there is an urgent need for evidence-based contributions to the plan for rapid transition to a low carbon economy. The new economy will have to both meet the targets of the 2015 Paris Climate Agreement<sup>17</sup> and be consistent with WHO global health objectives, and all other international treaties and agreements.<sup>65</sup>

Leading up to the Paris Conference in 2015, the RACP led the Doctors for Climate Action campaign. We highlighted the health impacts of climate change, and called upon world leaders to commit to urgent and meaningful action to combat the threat of climate change. The Doctors for Climate Action Consensus Statement (http://www.racp.edu.au/docs/default-source/advocacy-library/pa-cs-climate-change-cpac.docx) was endorsed by over 60 international medical organisations, and was presented to key decision makers. The Doctors for Climate Action Consensus Statement (http://www.racp.edu.au/docs/default-source/advocacy-library/pa-cs-climate-change-cpac.docx) was endorsed by over 60 international medical organisations, and was presented to key decision makers.

#### **Conclusions**

The RACP is committed to the following actions in response to the global climate health emergency:

- 1. Raise professional awareness of the health impacts of climate change
  - Disseminate this document and the linked Position Statements amongst health professionals
- 2. Advocate for national climate change and health strategies in Australia and New Zealand, including meaningful mitigation and adaptation targets, effective governance arrangements, professional and community education, effective intergovernmental collaboration, and a strong research capacity
  - Bring medical expertise and a focus on human health and justice to the centre of all public policy as it relates to climate change
  - Advocate for mitigation that will reduce the risk of dangerous climate change and maximise health benefits

# 3. Reduce the RACP carbon footprint and improve the sustainability of health services

- Implement the advice of the RACP Position Statement on Environmentally Sustainable Healthcare
- Continue to advise health services on ways in which they can minimise their environmental impact

# 4. Establish an enduring RACP climate change advocacy and engagement capability

- Ongoing activity beyond the term of the RACP Climate Change Working Party is implicit in actions 1–3
- Work in ongoing collaboration and partnership with other key organisations and professional bodies

#### **About this Position Statement**

This Statement was developed by The Royal Australasian College of Physicians (RACP) 2015 Climate Change and Health Working Party (CCHWP). It forms part of a set with The Health Benefits of Mitigating Climate Change Position Statement and the Environmentally Sustainable Healthcare Position Statement.

.

#### References

- 1. Watts N, Adger WN, Agnolucci P et al. Health and climate change: policy responses to protect public health. The Lancet 2015;386(10006):1861.
- 2. World Health Organization 2015. Climate change and health. Fact sheet N° 266. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs266/en/.
- Costello A, Abbas M, Allen A et al. Managing the health effects of climate change: Lancet and University College London Institute for Global Health Commission. The Lancet 2009;373(9676):1693–1733.
- 4. Climate and Health Council 2016. Home. http://www.climateandhealth.org/.
- American Lung Association 2016. A Declaration on Climate Change and Health. http://www.lung.org/our-initiatives/healthy-air/outdoor/climate-change/declaration-on-climate-change.html
- 6. World Medical Association 2016. WMA Climate Change. http://www.wma.net/en/40news/20archives/2016/2016\_15/.
- 7. Watts N, Stott R, and Rafferty AM. Combating climate change. BMJ 2015;351.
- 8. Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health 2009. Position Statement on Climate Change.
- World Bank, IFC, MIGA 2016. World Bank Group Climate Change Action Plan 2016–2020.
   Washington DC: World Bank.
- 10. The Royal Society 2016. Energy, environment and climate. https://royalsociety.org/topics-policy/energy-environment-climate/.
- 11. World Vision 2016. Climate change: the effects on children. https://www.worldvision.com.au/global-issues/work-we-do/climate-change/climate-change-the-effects-on-children.
- 12. The Royal Australasian College of Physicians 2016. Climate change and health. https://www.racp.edu.au/advocacy/policy-and-advocacy-priorities/climate-change-and-health.
- 13. Houghton JT, Meira Filho LG, Callander BA et al. (eds) 1996. Climate change 1995: the science of climate change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 14. United Nations 1994. United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change.
- 15. IPCC. Summary for policymakers 2014. In: CB Field, VR Barros, DJ Dokken, KJ Mach, MD Mastrandrea, TE Bilir, M Chatterjee, KL Ebi, YO Estrada, RC Genova, B Girma, ES Kissel, AN Levy, S MacCracken, PR Mastrandrea, LL White (eds). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects Contribution of Working

- Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 16. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 2014. Fifth Assessment Report. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/.
- 17. United Nations 2015. Framework Convention on Climate Change: Paris Agreement.
- 18. Harley D, Peng B, Hall G et al. Climate change and infectious diseases in Australia: future prospects, adaptation options, and research priorities. Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health 2011;23(2 suppl):54S–66S.
- 19. McMichael AJ. Globalization, climate change, and human health. New England Journal of Medicine 2013;368(14):1335–1343.
- 20. Kjellstrom T, Weaver HJ. Climate change and health: impacts, vulnerability, adaptation and mitigation. NSW Public Health Bulletin 2009;20(1–2):5–9.
- 21. National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences 2015. Heat-related morbidity and mortality. http://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/programs/geh/climatechange/health\_impacts/heat\_related \_morbidity/index.cfm.
- 22. Nitschke M, Tucker GR, Hansen AL et al. Impact of two recent extreme heat episodes on morbidity and mortality in Adelaide, South Australia: a case-series analysis. Environmental Health 2011;10(42).
- 23. McMichael AJ, Woodruff RE, Hales S. Climate change and human health: present and future risks. The Lancet 2006;367(9513):859–869.
- 24. Putignani L, Menichella D. Global distribution, public health and clinical impact of the protozoan pathogen cryptosporidium. Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Infectious Diseases 2010;2010;39.
- 25. World Health Organization 2003. Climate change and infectious diseases. Climate change and human health risks and responses. Geneva: WHO.
- 26. Environmental Health Working Group of the World Federation of Public Health Associations (WFPHA). Climate change and health policy assessment project report: a global survey 2015.
- 27. Jarvis L, Montgomery H, Morisetti N et al. Climate change, ill health, and conflict. BMJ 2011;342.
- 28. Kjellstrom T, McMichael AJ. Climate change threats to population health and well-being: the imperative of protective solutions that will last. Global Health Action 2013;6:10.3402/gha.v6i0.20816.

- 29. Commission on Social Determinants of Health 2008. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 30. Marmot M. Social determinants of health inequalities. The Lancet 2005;365:1099-1104.
- 31. World Health Organization 2008. Social determinants of health. http://www.who.int/social\_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/key\_concepts/en/.
- 32. World Health Organization 2012. Atlas of health and climate. http://www.who.int/globalchange/publications/atlas/report/en/.
- 33. Burke M, Hsiang SM, Miguel E. Global non-linear effect of temperature on economic production. Nature 2015;527(7577):235–239.
- 34. The Global Climate & Health Alliance 2015. Health and climate at COP21 and beyond.
- 35. Bennett H, Jones R, Keating G et al. Health and equity impacts of climate change in Aotearoa-New Zealand, and health gains from climate action. The New Zealand Medical Journal 2014;127(1406):16–31.
- 36. Jones R, Bennett H, Keating G et al. Climate change and the right to health for Māori in Aotearoa/New Zealand. Health and Human Rights 2014;16(1):54–68.
- 37. IPCC 2007. Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report. Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri RK, Reisinger A. (eds)]. Geneva: IPCC.
- 38. Harvey F. Climate change is already damaging global economy, report finds. The Guardian, 26 September 2012.
- 39. DARA and the Climate Vulnerable Forum 2012. Climate Vulnerability Monitor 2nd Edition: A guide to the cold calculus of a hot planet. Madrid: Fundación DARA Internacional.
- 40. Head L, Adams M, McGregor HV et al. Climate change and Australia. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 2014;5(2):175–197.
- 41. Vaneckova P, Bambrick H. Cause-specific hospital admissions on hot days in Sydney, Australia. PLoS ONE 2013;8(2):e55459.
- 42. Xu Z, Liu Y, Ma Z et al. Assessment of the temperature effect on childhood diarrhea using satellite imagery. Scientific Reports 2014;4:5389.
- 43. Hondula DM, Barnett AG. Heat-related morbidity in Brisbane, Australia: spatial variation and area-level predictors. Environmental Health Perspectives 2014;122:831–836.

- 44. Hanigan IC, Butler CD, Kokic PN et al. Suicide and drought in New South Wales, Australia, 1970–2007. PNAS 2012;109(35):13950–13955.
- 45. New Zealand Climate Change Centre 2014. Climate Change: IPCC Fifth Assessment Report New Zealand findings.
- 46. IPCC 2012. Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation. A Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- 47. The Royal Society of New Zealand 2016. Climate change implications for New Zealand. Wellington: Royal Society of New Zealand.
- 48. New Zealand Ministry for the Environment: Manatū Mō Te Taiao 2014. Climate change impacts in New Zealand. http://www.mfe.govt.nz/climate-change/how-climate-change-affects-nz/climate-change-impacts.
- 49. Nunn PD 2012. Asia-Pacific Human Development Report Background Papers Series 2012/07: Climate change and Pacific Island countries. UNDP, Asia Pacific Regional Centre.
- 50. Farbotko C, Lazrus H. The first climate refugees? Contesting global narratives of climate change in Tuvalu. Global Environmental Change 2012;22(2):382–390.
- 51. Gilbert JI 2011. Climate change in Southeast Asia and the Pacific Islands. New York: Nova Science Publishers.
- 52. United Nations. List of Parties that signed the Paris Agreement on 22 April 2016. http://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/blog/2016/04/parisagreementsingatures/.
- 53. Fry G, Tarte S (eds) 2015. The new Pacific diplomacy. Acton, ACT: ANU Press
- 54. Sims A 2015. Pacific Island Tuvalu calls for 1.5 degrees global warming limit or faces 'total demise'. Independent, 2 December.
- 55. Climate Vulnerable Forum. Manila-Paris Declaration 2015.
- 56. European Commission 2016. Climate Action. Adaptation to climate change. http://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/adaptation/index\_en.htm.
- 57. National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences 2015. Climate change and human health. http://www.niehs.nih.gov/research/programs/geh/climatechange/.
- Scovronick N, Dora C, Fletcher E, Haines A, Shindell D. Reduce short-lived climate pollutants for multiple benefits. Lancet 2015; published online June 23. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(15)61043-1.

- 59. Ahmedabad Municipal Corporation. Ahmedabad heat action plan 2015.
- 60. Parry M, Arnell N, Berry P et al. 2009. Assessing the costs of adaptation to climate change: a review of the UNFCCC and other recent estimates. London: International Institute for Environment and Development and Grantham Institute for Climate Change.
- Smedley PL, Kinniburgh DG 2013. Arsenic in groundwater and the environment. In: Selinus O (ed.). Essentials of Medical Geology: Revised Edition. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, pp. 279–310.
- 62. Krabbenhoft DP, Sunderland EM. Global change and mercury. Science 2013;341(6153):1457–1458.
- 63. United Nations Environment Programme, World Meteorological Organization 2011. Integrated assessment of black carbon and tropospheric ozone.
- 64. Gerwig K 2014. Greening health care. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 65. World Health Organization 2015. Home. http://www.who.int/en/.
- 66. The Royal Australasian College of Physicians 2015. Consensus statement: Act now to reduce the damaging health impacts of climate change. https://www.racp.edu.au/advocacy/consensus-statement-health-impacts-of-climatechange/health-impacts-of-climate-change-consensus-statement.
- 67. The Royal Australasian College of Physicians 2015. Climate Change and Health. https://www.racp.edu.au/advocacy/policy-and-advocacy-priorities/climate-change-and-health.